ENCLOSURE 1
NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Georgia Power Company Docket Nos. 50-321 and 50-366
Hatch Units 1 and 2 License Nos. DPR-57 and NPF-5

During the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) inspection conducted on

October 31-November 4, 1988, a violation of NRC requirements was identified.
In accordance with the “General Statement of Policy and Procedures for NRC
fnforcement Actions," 10 CFR 2, Appendix C (1988), the violation is listed

below,

10 CFR 20.201(b) requires each licensee to make or cause to be made such
surveys as (1) may be necessary for the licensee to comply with the
regulations in 10 CFR Part 20 and (2) are reasonable under the
circumstances to evaluate the extent of radiation hazards that may be

present,

Technical Specification 6.8.1 requires written procedures to be
established, implemented and maintained covering the activities
recommended in Appendix A of Regulatory Guide 1.33, Revision 2, February

1978,

Regulatory Guide 1.33, Appendix A, 1978, recommends written procedures for
radiation surveys.

Licensee procedure 62 RP-PAD-008-0S, Radiation and Contamination Surveys,
requires that a sufficient number of locations be surveyed to adequately
assess the radiological status of the area being surveyed,

Contrary to the above, on October 31, 1988, the licensee failed to perform
radiation surveys of the Kelly Building and the adjacent environs of the

Hot Machine Shop after repositioning contaminated tools having dose rates
of approximately 100 millirem per hour from the east area to the west area
of the ¥elly Building.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement V).

Pursuant to the provision of 10 CFR 2.201, Georgia Power Company is hereby
required to submit a written statement or explanation to the Nuclear Regulatory
Commission, ATTN: Document Control Desk, Washington, DC 20555, with a copy to
the Regional Administrator, Region 11, and a copy to the Plant Hatch NRC
Resident Inspector, within 30 days of the date of the letter transmitting this
Notice. This reply should be clearly marked as a "Reply to a Notice of
Violation" and should include: (1) admission or denial of the violation, (2)
the reason for the viplation if admitted, (3) the corrective steps which have
been taken and the results achieved, (4) the corrective steps which will be
taken to avoid further violations, and (5) the date when full compliance will
be achieved. Where good cause is shown, consideration will be given to
extending the response time. 1f an adequate reply is not received within the
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Georgia Power Co. Docket Nos. 50-321 and 50-366
Hatch Units 1 and 2 2 License Nos. DPR-57 and NPF-5

time specified in this Notice, an order may be issued to show cause why the
license should not be modif ed, suspended, or revoked or why such other action
as may be proper should not be taken.

FOR THE NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

Thomas R. Decker, Acting Chief
tmergency Preparedness and
Radiological Protection Branch
Division of Radiation Safety
and Safeguards

Dated at Atianta, Georgia
this day of 1988



